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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

BEVERLY FLORES,

)

. )

Plaintiff, )

)

v )
) Case No. 08-CV-00308-M JR-DGW

FLYING J, INC., )

Defendant. )

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

REAGAN, District Judge:

The matter before éhCourt is Plaintiff Beverly Flores’s motion for discovery sanctions
under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37(c) (D&L). In this discrimination action, plaintiff
Beverly Flores alleges defendant Flying J violated Title VII of the Civil ®idg{ct of 196l via
the Pregnancy Discrimination Act by terminating her position as a cashiersbeshe was
pregnantSeeCivil Rights Act of 1964 8§01(k), 703, 42 U.S.C. 82000€k), 2000e2 (2006).

A jury trial is set to take place on March 15, 2010.

From the outset, the parties have taken opposite positions about how Flores’s and Flying
J’'s employment relationship endedFlores insists she was terminated, but Flying J maintains
Flores “voluntarily resigned.” Accordingly, Flying J consistently main@@iRres quither job
during discovery. In Flying J’'s initial Rule 26(a) disclosures, it identified Joloartdn, the
company’s former general manager, as someone with discoverable informelating to
“plaintiff's voluntary resignation” (Doc31-1). Flying J provided Flores with interrogatory

answers that stated John Mourton would testify that “he did not terminate pldontithat she
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resigned from her position” and that four other witnesses wpuddide similar testimony
(Doc. 31-2).

On October 21, 2008, Flores deposed Mourton (Bd&). Mourton testified that Flores
called him and said she was not coming back to work, and then called him again thretedays la
and asked for her job badBRefore she called him back, he had not officially terminated Flores’s
employment, so he instructed her to call her supervisor so that she could be placed hack on t
schedule. Ifl.) Mourton additionally testified that when Flores first called and said she wasn’t
coming back to work, he did not consider her to have residfeeylIn addition to questioning
Mourton, Flores’s counsel also showed him Flying J's position statement it submtoittbe
EEOC before Flores filed this lawsuit. The author of that statement statedtimemepart, that
Mourton “immediately acceptedrlores’s] resignatio. (Id.) Mourton then testified that he
disagreed with that statement because “he did not feel [Flores] wasmgsigumiting, leaving or
going away.”(ld.)

Mourton’s deposition testimony prompted Flores’s pending motion for sanctions, which
she filed approximately fifteen mtrs after Mourton was deposefores contends Flying J
violated Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(e) by failing to supplement, amendholrawit its
initial disclosures and interrogatory answers stating Floessgned” because Mourton provided
contrary testimony (Do@&1). Flores consequently seeks an order imposing sanctions against
Flying J in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37(c). She asgnesons are
mandatory because Flying J failed provide “truthful” and “accurate” information during
discovery about how Flores’s employment relationship with Flying J ended, anthiédsl to
supplement its initial disclosures and answers, which Flyimp@ knows are false” (DocS1,

33).



Flying J opposes Flores by arguing (1) Flores failed to resolve her “discoveryedisput
with it before moving for sanctions, and, therefore failed and cehéfshe made a good faith
attempt to obtain the supplemented responses in accordance with Rule)@)dj2} Flying J
truthfully representethatFlores “resigned” in its Rule 26 disclosures and interrogatory answers
notwithstanding Mourton’s testimony, because Flores told Mourton she was not coming back to
work and then failed to call her supervisor so that she could be placed back on the Schedule.
Notwithstanding, the Court need not reach Flying J's arguments because the plaagédanf
the applicable Federal Rules of Civil Procedure show discovery sanctionsappeopriate in
this case.

FederaRule of Civil Procedure 26(e)(1)(A) states:

A party who has made a disclosure under Rule 26¢a)who has
responded to an interrogatory, request for production, or request
for admissior—must supplement or correct its disclosure or
responsg ... h a tmely manner if the party learns that in some
material respect the disclosure or response is incomplete or
incorrect,and if the additional or corrective information has not
otherwise been made knowo the other parties during the
discovery process or imriting . . . .

Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(e)(1)(A) (emphasis added). Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 33i@s)

If a partyfails to provide information . .as required by Rule 26(a)

or (e), the party is not allowed to use that information or witness to
supply evidence on a motion, at a hearing, or at a tnéss the
failure was substantially justified or is harmlegs addition to or
instead of this sanction, the court on motion and after giving an
opportunity to be heard: (A) may order paymenthaf teasonable
expenses, including attorney’s fees, caused by the failure; (B) may
inform the jury of the party’s failure, and (C) may impose other
appropriate sanctions, including any of the orders listed in Rule

37(0)(2)(A)(i)-(vi).

! Flying J's response to Flores's motion largely focuses on documeyitsy Rl usedin preparing its initial
disclosures, including aritten statement from Mourtorklores, however, is contesting Flying J's decision not to
amendthose dislosures and its interrogatory answers in accordance with Federal Rilél ¢frocedure 26(e).
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Fed R. Civ. P.37(c)Q) (emphasis added)he text of Rule 26(e)(1)(A) makes clear that
although parties must supplement their discovery responses that contain incomeotnplete
information, their duty is absolved if the inaccurate information has “otherage® made
known to the other parties during the discovery process or in writifgd. R. Civ.
P.26(e)(1)(A); Gutierrez v. AT & T Broadband, LL382 F.3d 725, 733 {f@ Cir. 2004) (Rule

26(e) “amendments are required only in certain circumstances, such as wheuwlitioaahd
information ‘has not otherwise been made known to the other parties during the discovery
process . ..”) (alteration in original) see also Westefer v. Snydé22 F.3d 570, 584 {fi Cir.

2005) (party’s failure to amend their interrogatory answers was excusedhinoligthe
“otherwise clause” in Rule 26(e) since the information at issue was prevjmasiyled to the
opposing party; therefore, “there was no unfair surprise” caused by tHere faa amend)It

would have been prudent for Flying J to supplement their interrogatory arewkedsclosures

that related to Mourton after Flores took his depostiti@ut its decision not to do so did not
violate Rule26(e) because Flores “otherwise” discovered the discrepancy surrounding
Mourton’s opinion about how Flores left Flying J during the “discovery process.” FedvR. C
P.26(e)(1)(a) Despite Flores’s contention, Flying J was not required to amend its answers under

these circumstancesl.; Gutierrez 382 F.3d at 725.

2|t is not clear whether Flores’s argument is that Flying J should haveesumptedall of its initial disclosures and
interrogatory answers that state Floluntarily resigned, or, only the responses that concern what JaimoRlo
The record before the Court shows Flying J has not changed its pdiséttd-lores was not terminated because there
are witnesses other than Mourton who will testify to that. f@onsequently, even if the Court had determined
Flying J should have supplement its disclosures and inteoryganswers, its order would have concerned only
those relating to Mourton.



Additionally, even if the Court had found Flying J’s failure to amend its disclosunes
discovery documents violated Rule 26, sanctions would not lie because its failure to d® so wa
“harmless.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1). “The determination of whether a fasguteimless 0
justified is left to the broad discretion of the district couwéstefer422 F.3d at 584 n.2The
Seventh Circuit does not require district courts to make “explicit findinggutawhether a
violation of Rule 26(e) is “harmlessDavid v. Caterpillar, Inc. 324, F.3d 851, 857 (i Cir.

2003) Quoting Woodworker’s Supply, Inc. v. Principal Mut. Life Ins.,@@0 F.3d 984, 993
(20th Cir. 1999)).It must instead consider “(1) the prejudice or surprise to the party against
whom the evidence is offered; (2) the ability of the party to cure the prejudidap(Bielihood

of disruption to the trial; and (4) the bad faith or willfulness involved in not disclosing the
evidence at an earlier datéd’ at 857 (citations omitted).

Flores is not prejudiced iany way by Flying J’s failure to supplement its discovery
document because witnesses other than Mourt will aver on behalf of Flying Jouest duit
voluntarily®. Flores discovered Mourton’s opinion about Flores’s alleged resignation in October
of 2008—approximately seventeen months before the March 2010 trial date, and long before the
dispositive motion deadline had expired. Accordingly, the information at issue wilnpetle
the trial. Finally, the Court does not find Flying J made its decision not to supplésent
discovery documents in “bad faith.” As noted above, Flying J could have amended the
information about which Mourton will testify; however, its failure to do so was not ragde
result of any improper motive. Flying J still Maintains Mourton’s trial testimony vitivws
Flores called him to say she was not coming back to work, and then failed to call back to be

placed on its schedule, even though Mourton does not personally consider her to have

% SeeStatement of Tanya KocBoc.32-1 at17, Statement of Ma Hubbard Doc.32-1 at 16.
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“resigned.” Any inconsistencies in Flying J'®gition are appropriate for vetting at trial, not
sanctions.
For the foregoing reasons, Flores’s motion for sanciioons. 31)is DENIED.
IT1SSO ORDERED.
DATED March 9, 2010.
g/ Michael J. Reagan

MICHAEL J. REAGAN
United States District Judge




